
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Date: Thursday, 3 December 2020 at 2.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual Meeting 

 

Membership: 

Chairman:  
  

Vice-Chairman:  

T Goodson NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

Cllr N Greene BCP Portfolio Holder 
Cllr K Rampton BCP Portfolio Holder 
Cllr M White BCP Portfolio Holder 
Cllr B Dove BCP Lead Member 
Graham Farrant Chief Executive (BCP Council) 
Jan Thurgood Corporate Director, Adult Social Care (BCP Council) 
Kate Ryan Corporate Director, Environment and Community (BCP Council) 
Elaine Redding Corporate Director, (interim) Children's Services (BCP Council) 
Sam Crowe Director, Public Health (BCP Council) 
D Fleming University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust 
E Yafele Dorset Healthcare Foundation 

S Sandcraft NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

R Jenkinson NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

M Niman NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

S Watkins NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

L Bate Healthwatch 

K Loftus Bournemouth and Poole Voluntary Services Councils 

S Why Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service 

J Vaughan Dorset Police 

S Thomas Education Representative 
 

All Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are summoned to attend this meeting to 
consider the items of business set out on the agenda below. 
 

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4650 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Democratic Services by email at democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

25 November 2020 
 



 

 anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

 

mailto:anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Board Members 
 

 

2.   Substitute Members  

 To receive information on any changes in the membership of the Board. 
 

 

3.   Election of Chairman  

 To elect a Chairman for the remainder of the Municipal Year. 
 

 

4.   Declarations of Interests  

 Board Members are requested to declare any interests on items included in 
this agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for 
guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

5.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution, which is available to view at the following 
link: 
  
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Inf
o=1&bcr=1 
  
The deadline for the submission of a public question is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. 
 
The deadline for the submission of a public statement is midday the 
working day before the meeting. 
 
The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

6.   Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 24 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 3 
September 2020. 
 

 

7.   Health and Wellbeing Board - Business protocol, membership and 
terms of reference 

25 - 28 

 The Board is asked in particular to review its membership following 
changes since the last meeting.  
 
 
 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

8.   Planning to Deliver the Health and Well-being Strategy 2020-2023 29 - 48 

 The BCP Health and Well-Being Board approved the Health and Well-
Being Strategy 2020-2023 in September 2020.  This report sets out the 
developing plans for delivery of the priorities as agreed in the Strategy. All 
Board members and agencies are asked to consider the initial plans and 
identify where the further input of all agencies and sectors and the 
engagement of local communities can contribute to the delivery of the 
strategy and its commitments. 
 

 

9.   Local Outbreak Management Plan  

 The Board will be updated on the latest position.  
 

 

10.   Forward Plan, Dates for future meetings of the Board and 
arrangements for Development Sessions 

49 - 50 

 The Board is asked to consider the development of the Forward Plan, dates 
for future meetings and arrangements for development sessions. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 03 September 2020 at 9.30 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr V Slade – Chairman 

T Goodson – Vice-Chairman 

 

Present: Cllr L Dedman, Cllr S Moore, Cllr K Wilson, Jan Thurgood, 
Kate Ryan, Sam Crowe, S Sandcraft, S Why and J Vaughan 

 

56. Apologies  

Before starting the business on the agenda Councillor Slade welcomed 
Elaine Redding, BCP Interim Corporate Director Children’s Services, to her 
first meeting of the Board and to Jenni Douglas-Todd, Chairman of the ICS 
who was attending as an observer. 

Apologies for absence were received from Graham Farrant, David 
Richardson, Louise Bate, Debbie Fleming, Eugene Yafele and Karen Loftus 
 

57. Substitute Members  

Richard Renaut, Chief Strategy and Transformation Officer, Poole and 
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trusts, 
attended as a substitute for Debbie Fleming and Jane Elson Service 
Director Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust attended as a 
substitute for Eugine Yafele. 
 

58. Election of Chairman  

Councillor Vikki Slade was nominated and seconded for Chairman. There 
were no other nominations and Councillor Slade took the role of Chairman. 
 

59. Election of Vice-Chairman  

Tim Goodson was nominated and seconded for Vice-Chairman. There were 
no other nominations and Mr Goodson to the role of Vice-Chairman 
 

60. Declarations of Interests  

There were no declarations of interest made at this meeting. 
 

61. Public Issues  

There no public issues for this meeting. 
 

62. Confirmation of Minutes  

The minutes of the meetings held on 4 June 2020 and 2 July 2020 were 
confirmed as a correct record subject to the following change: 

2 July 2020 

Minute 55 remove the wording “clinical” to enable more flexibility in the 
membership of the sub-group. 

Voting - agreed 

5

Agenda Item 6



– 2 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
 

63. Health and Wellbeing Board - Business protocol, membership and terms of 
reference  

The Deputy Head of Democratic Services presented a paper on the 
business protocol, membership and terms of reference of the Board, a copy 
of which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears 
as Appendix ‘A’ to these Minutes in the Minute Book.  

The Chairman suggested that an Education representative external to the 
Council with schools and early years’ experience would be useful for the 
Board. This suggestion was supported by the Board and in particular the 
valuable knowledge that such a representative would bring to the operation 
of the Board. 

The Chairman asked if Elaine Redding would progress the above 
suggestion. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the membership of the Board be amended to include an 
external education representative and contact be made with 
perspective nominees; and 

(b) subject to the above the business protocol, membership and 
terms of reference be agreed. 

Voting – agreed 
 

64. Safe and Well Checks  

The Chairman reported that she was delighted that there had been an 
opportunity to include this item on the agenda.  She highlighted her 
experience of the inspirational work undertaken by the team.  Seth Why 
referred to a previous meeting of the Board and a comment made on the 
need to reduce the level of admissions to hospital he highlighted the 
services provided by the team to vulnerable residents in the community 
including signposting and providing education.  

The Board received a presentation from Sarah Moore, Dorset and Wiltshire 
Fire and Rescue Service on the work of the Safe and Well team and the 
services and support provided by the team. She outlined the reasons that 
people suffer from fires in their homes and that on average each fire death 
cost £1.65m which was why there was a Safe and Well team.  In the Winter 
there can be additional reasons for fires including using old heaters, 
overloaded sockets and chimney fires. The Board was advised of the two 
different sides of fire safety, prevention and protection.  Sarah explained 
that the Safe and Well Team come under fire prevention so when they visit 
people in their homes. They are encouraging them to change their habits by 
taking on goodwill advice. The Board was advised of the role of the Safety 
Advisers who were based locally.  Sarah explained that visits were normally 
arranged by telephone and visits involved the adviser identifying potential 
risks in their home.  She also indicated that there was an ability during the 
visit to see if there were any other issues such as use of medication, 
alcohol or mobility problems and if so to signpost residents to other 
agencies for support. The Board was also advised of other support 

6



– 3 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
provided by the team including the loan of heaters, provision of fire-
retardant bedding, installation of deaf alert systems, fitting carbon monoxide 
detectors and offering talks in the Community.  Sarah highlighted the “Do 
you know a Charlie Initiative” which was promoted to health professionals 
and provided an opportunity for vulnerable residents to be referred to the 
Safe and Well team for support.  The Board was informed that there had 
been 4,000 visits by the team in the BCP area for 2019/20. 

Jan Thurgood, Corporate Director BCP Council endorsed the joint work 
with the Adult Social Care contact centre and referred to the multi-
disciplinary hoarding panel which the fire service was engaged with and 
welcomed the partnership working.  The Corporate Director asked if Sarah 
Moore could provide a brief overview of the service being provided in the 
current climate due to covid. 

Sarah explained that the Team were still providing a service in the current 
climate with most contact with residents via the telephone.  She reported 
that the team were visiting those in highest risk with appropriate PPE, 
where equipment needed to be fitted. 

The Board highlighted the importance of the work that the team do and the 
complexities of the needs of some residents they were working with.  The 
Chairman asked how the impact of the team’s visits could be measured 
overtime. Seth Why reported that the number of fires and fire deaths were 
reducing.  Sarah explained that it was more difficult to measure the impact 
on health-related issues.  The Board was advised that discussions were 
underway at a national level on how this area could be evaluated.  Seth 
Why suggested that this could be a possible area of work for partners.  

Councillor Dedman referred to the 7,000 fires caused by electrical faults 
and asked if there was any difference between rental and home-owned 
properties.  Sarah reported that this would require research work but 
personally I am not aware of there being such differences. 

Councillor Moore thanked Sarah for the presentation and reported that she 
was part of a neighbourhood watch and would welcome Sarah attending a 
future AGM meeting. 

The Chairman asked if the team had links into the primary care networks 
and GP surgeries and asked if a flag could be provided on the GP system if 
a resident had been referred to or was in contact with the Safe and Well 
Team.  Sarah reported that just before covid the team was making inroads 
into GP surgeries and integration was working well. 

Kate Ryan, Corporate Director BCP Council thanked the team for the joint 
efforts working across the Council’s housing stock and welcomed this 
partnership approach continuing. 

The Chairman thanked Seth Why and Sarah Moore for the presentation. 

RESOLVED that the presentation be received and noted.   
 
Attached are the slides from the above presentation.   
 
 
 

7



– 4 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
65. Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020 - 2023  

The Director of Public Health presented a report on the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2023, a copy of which had been circulated to each 
Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix ‘B’ to these Minutes in 
the Minute Book. 

The Board was informed that approval of the draft strategy document 
attached to the report was sought.  Members were encouraged to consider 
adopting a ‘sponsorship’ model in which Board members provide guidance 
and support to specific priority areas within the strategy.  The Director of 
Public Health reported that the Board was required, in discharging its duty, 
to have a strategy to promote integration and prevention.  He referred to the 
development of the strategy and the development session held in late 2019 
when the framework for the strategy was considered and the three priorities 
empowering communities, promoting healthy lives and support and 
challenge to partners was proposed and agreed. It was further discussed 
that in relation to promoting healthy lives, the initial annual theme would be 
that of increasing physical activity. The Director of Public Health highlighted 
that as a result of the pandemic it was proposed that the themes be 
reviewed.  It was suggested within the draft strategy that the themes would 
now be improving mental health for the first 15 months and then for the 
Board to focus on eliminating food insecurity.  The Director of Public Health 
explained the strong links between the strategy and the BCP Corporate 
Strategy and referred to the important strands in the work of the Council in 
improving health and well-being outcomes in communities in deprived 
areas and the need for the strategy to dovetail with the priorities of the 
Dorset Integrated Care System.  The Director of Public Health reported on 
the need to focus on deprived communities which would be even more 
important in view of recent ONS surveys. The survey had shown that in 
April and May high numbers of the population were experiencing some form 
of mental stress linked to their financial future.  

The Board considered the proposed draft strategy, the sponsorship model 
and the proposed themes.  Richard Renault indicated that he fully 
supported the strategy and the two promoting healthy lives priorities and 
indicated that the covid psychological burdens were very high.  He referred 
to the reconfiguration of acute hospital services which would take place 
over the coming years and the strong set of patient benefits associated with 
these changes.  The benefits would be tracked and outcomes shared with 
the Health and Wellbeing Board over time.  

Jenni Dougal-Todd supported the strategy, the promotion of healthy lives 
and the focus on mental health as a priority in the strategy.  The Chairman 
referred to the second priority and the lead in time when identifying 
priorities. She reported on the request from the food poverty team for the 
Board to pick up the governance around food poverty and it became clear 
the issue around the hunger agenda felt appropriate for inclusion in the 
Strategy. Richard Renault referred to the need to align with National 
Campaigns such as Mark Rashford’s project for school age children.  The 
Chairman reported on the need to look at the effectiveness of community 
fridges and for all partners to work with local communities and the 
community sector on the issues.  

8



– 5 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
The Board was asked to identify which areas they may wish to sponsor. 

RESOLVED that the Board:-  

(a) approves the draft strategy; and  

(b) adopts a ‘sponsorship’ model whereby Board members 
champion specific areas within the strategy. 

Voting – Unanimous 
 

66. The Application of Care Act Easements for BCP Council Adult Social Care: 
Revisions August 2020  

The Corporate Director for Adult Social Care presented a report on the 
Application of Care Act Easements for BCP Council Adult Social Care and 
revisions in August 2020, a copy of which had been circulated to each 
Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix ‘C’ to these Minutes in 
the Minute Book. 

The Board was advised that the BCP Council Adult Social Care had 
reviewed its position in relation to easements to the Care Act (2014) under 
powers granted by the Coronavirus Act (2020). Three easements were 
previously reported to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 4 June 2020.  
Officers reported that the Stage 2 easements used the flexibilities already 
present within the Care Act to change, delay or cancel some service types. 
The easements were introduced because Government recognised that the 
Covid-19 pandemic has placed unprecedented pressures on Adult Social 
Care and that the full requirements of the Care Act (2014) may be difficult 
for Local Authorities to discharge.  

The Corporate Director reported that two of the three easements had been 
withdrawn relating to people with a hearing loss and changes in the 
provision of occupational therapy prescribed adaptations. Both services 
were now able to act under the Care Act at Stage one of the Coronavirus 
Act. She explained that the remaining easement related to day 
opportunities and day centre services.  The Board was advised of the 
national guidance issued by SCIE (Social Care Institute for Excellence) on 
how to consider safely opening up all such services.  The guidance 
acknowledged that it would not be possible to provide the services to the 
full range of clients or to the same intensity in view of the social distancing 
measures that would need to be put in place as a result of Covid 19.  The 
Corporate Director reported that work was underway with all providers to 
begin to provide services safely which was encouraging all be it more 
limited services.  She explained that if there was a community rise in Covid 
19 cases advice would be sought from Public Health on the necessary 
action required in respect of day opportunities. 

Councillor Dedman highlighted how the Council and partner organisations 
had managed throughout the pandemic. She indicated that there were still 
a lot of residents who were not keen to have visits due to Covid 19 and this 
issue needed to be considered.  She commended staff throughout the 
council and the partnership organisations for all their work. 

The Chairman reported on isolation and loneliness which was a real 
problem and asked what could be done through the wider community to 

9



– 6 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
address this issue and what communication was planned to explain the 
position with current access to day opportunities.  

The Corporate Director Adult Social Care reported that in relation to 
isolation and loneliness there were initiatives through the voluntary sector 
and Karen Loftus could update the Board at a future meeting.  She outlined 
the range of contact with clients explaining the situation on day 
opportunities including supporting those with direct payments and the 
choices they need make in accessing services, providers working with 
people who access such services and looking at how the Council assess 
people who use day opportunities.  The Corporate Director explained that 
the assessments would take some time due to the number of users which 
was in the region of 700. 

Councillor Dedman referred to the “Together We Can” initiative and the 
impact of continuing to make contact with residents in their communities 
which hopefully would help to alleviate isolation and loneliness. 

RESOLVED that the Board note that two previously applied stage 2 
easements are no longer required, but that one remains in place. 

(a) the easement relating to assessments for people who are deaf 
were delayed in some cases because these can only be 
undertaken face-to-face with interpreters.  This is no longer 
required as adult social care staff are now able to undertake 
visits. 

(b) the easements relating to changes in the provision of 
Occupational Therapy prescribed adaptations and community 
equipment is no longer required as the building and supply 
trades have resumed operations. 

(c) the Stage 2 “easements” relating to day centre closure in order 
to comply with social distancing measures remains in place. 
Day services continue to be provided through alternative 
provision within the community or client’s homes, and 
increasingly through the resumption of buildings-based day 
centre support. Social distancing will, however, continue to 
preclude the full opening of day centres to the before COVID 
level of attendance for the foreseeable future. 

Voting – Unanimous. 
 

67. Update on COVID-19 Communications Strategy and the role of the Local 
Outbreak Engagement Board  

The Director of Public Health  presented a report providing an update on 
the Covid-19 Communications Strategy and the role of the Local Outbreak 
Engagements Board  2020, a copy of which had been circulated to each 
Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix ‘C’ to these Minutes in 
the Minute Book. 

The Director of Public Health reported on the role of the Local Outbreak 
Engagement Board.  He reminded the Board that the Local Outbreak 
Management Plan had been produced by the end of June in line with 
national policy. The Director reported that as previously agreed the Health 

10



– 7 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
and Wellbeing Board would function as the Local Outbreak Engagement 
Board and would play a key role in local outbreak management along with 
key strategic officers and the Leader of the Council.  The Board was 
advised that considerable progress had been made working through the 
health protection board.  He explained that if the BCP area was facing an 
increase in outbreaks and or a rise in the infection rate the role of the board 
would be to communicate key public health messages quickly to the public 
or particular communities and provide oversight and assurance on the 
actions being taken.  The Director of Public Health referred to proposals to 
build a network of trusted voices seeking support from key people in 
communities.  He explained that the report summarised the 
communications strategy and trusted voices project and provided an 
opportunity to share thinking and work Public Health were doing on 
communication and engagement. 

The Chairman referred to the current difficulties being experienced with the 
local Covid testing centre and the problem in accessing a test locally.  She 
highlighted that this was a national issue as capacity was being prioritised 
in other areas but asked what advice could be provided to residents.  The 
Director of Public Health explained that it was a national issue due to lab 
capacity.  He reported that he had been advised that this was a temporary 
measure and more lab capacity would be coming on stream in the next 2-3 
weeks.  The Director reported that if people do have symptoms it was 
important to have a test.  He indicated that he would need to understand 
the current situation at the Creekmoor Centre and could use public health 
to put out appropriate local messages.  Sally Sandcraft confirmed the 
position in respect of the national portal and the difficulties at a local level.  
The Director of Public Heath reported that he would put out appropriate 
messages on social media. 

The Chairman referred to the member briefing on the Local Outbreak 
Management Planning on 14 September 2020.  She also referred to the 
work that the Chief Executive was involved with at a national level.  

Sally Sandcraft reported on providing communications on young people 
going back to school which could also be linked to the communications 
strategy.  Councillor Moore reported that this would be helpful to support 
parents with their concerns and any messaging provided by Public Health 
on any potential second spike would provide reassurance.  The Chairman 
referred to schools’ approach on children wearing masks and that some 
schools who were turning children away if they were wearing masks. The 
Director of Public Health reported that he would discuss these issues with 
the Communications team to ensure messaging was appropriate and 
consistent. 

RESOLVED that the Board:- 

(a) notes the development of the BCP Council Covid-19 Local 
Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP) Communications Strategy; 

(b) notes the key role the Local Outbreak Engagement Board will 
play in responding to future outbreaks/incidents as highlighted 
by exercises under the LOMP; 

11



– 8 – 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
03 September 2020 

 
(c) Key Members of the Engagement Board share their learning 

from the table-top exercise due to run on 7 September 2020. 

Voting – agreed  
 
Elaine Redding left at 10.27 am 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.00 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

12



PREVENTION

Safe and Well Team

13



•You are twice as likely to die in a fire if you don’t have a working 

smoke detector

•90 people die each year because their smoke detectors are not 

working

•Over half the home fires are caused by cooking

•Every day someone dies from a fire caused by a cigarette

•Faulty electrics (appliances, wiring and overloaded sockets) cause 

around 7000 house fires a year across the UK

•It costs society on average £1.65 million for every fire death

Did you know?

14



Winter related incidents

Increase in chimney fires

Overloaded electrical sockets

Old fashioned electric / Calor gas heaters

Cookers being left on for additional heat and/or 
being used to dry clothing etc

15



Fire Safety

Domestic Fire Safety

(Prevention)

Commercial Fire Safety

(Protection)

The information we give                                   Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety)

inside people’s homes is ‘good                          Order 2005 Legislation that 

will’ advice only  must be adhered to               

16



The role of a

Safe and Well Advisor

• Team covers the whole of Dorset & Wiltshire

• Locality based

• Appointment based visits 

• Give valuable, lifesaving advice with regards to fire risks in the home

• SAIL (Safe & Independent Living) - signpost to other partner agencies 

• Public Health training for healthy conversations inc substance misuse, 
mental health, eating habits, slips trips and falls

• Targeting those most vulnerable 

• Joint visits if required

• Fit free smoke and heat detectors if required

• Work alongside partner agencies/organisations to locate and help 
vulnerable people

17



What else?..…

Heater Loan Scheme 

Fire Retardant Bedding

Fire Retardant spray

Extension Leads

Deaf Alerts

CO Monitors

Group talks/ drop in sessions

18



Care and Support Needs

Hoarding and Mental 
Health issues

Alcohol and medication

Reduced Mobility

Lives Alone

Inappropriate Smoking

Elderly – 65+

19



Added risks………

Oxygen Users

Emollients

Hoarding

Bed Bound / Bariatric

20



BCP Area

Elderly Population

Transient Communities – University / Seasonal

Areas of deprivation

Year 19/20 – Approx 4000 Safe and Well Visits were 

carried out in the BCP Areas. 

All of which were vulnerable and at risk of fire.

21



How you can help us?...

If you know of someone that would benefit from a 

free safe and well visit, please email 

safeandwell@dwfire.org.uk or contact the 

freephone number 0800 038 2323

Alternatively, visit dwfire.org.uk and follow the link 

to Free Safe and Well Visit.  

22



Contact Details

Safe and Well Team

Freephone:      0800 038 2323

safeandwell@dwfire.org.uk

23



T
his page is intentionally left blank

24



 

 
BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE (BCP) HEALTH AND 

WELLBEING BOARD 

MEETINGS AND BUSINESS PROTOCOL 

 

A. MEMBERSHIP 

The membership of the Board will be reviewed and confirmed each year.  Set out in 

section C below is the proposed membership of the Board. 

The Board may invite/co-opt other representatives to attend meetings for specific 

issues as appropriate. The quorum for meetings of the Board shall be 10 including at 

least two Councillors and two representatives from the NHS. 

B. ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR 

The Chair and Vice Chair of the Board will be elected annually at the first meeting of 

the Board following the Annual meeting of the Council.  

C. VOTING RIGHTS 

The following members of the Board will have voting rights. 

Leader of the Council 
Portfolio Holder for Adults and Health  
Portfolio Holder for Children’s and Families  
Portfolio Holder for Housing 
BCP Portfolio Holder for Covid Resilience, Schools and Skills 
BCP Portfolio Holder for Adults 
BCP Portfolio Holder of Children and Young People 
BCP Lead Member for Equalities  
Chief Executive BCP Council  
Corporate Director, Adult Social Care 
Corporate Director, Children’s Services 
Corporate Director, Environment and Community  
Director, Public Health 
 
 
Chief Officer, NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group  
Chief Executive, University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust  
Chief Executive, Dorset Healthcare Foundation Trust  
Lead Director of Primary and Community Care, NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning 
Group  
Three GPs/representatives from the NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group  
Representative of NHS England and NHS Improvement   
One Healthwatch representative (Evolving Communities Community Interest Company) 
One Representative of the Bournemouth and Poole Voluntary Services Councils  
One Representative from Dorset Police Force  
One Representative from Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 
Education Representative   

25

Agenda Item 7



 

 
Note Substitutes are permitted for the above representatives  
 
Observer – Chairman of the ICS  
 
 
D. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
In accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards 
and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013, Members and named substitute Members of 
the Board will be required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests in matters 
before meetings of the Board. All Members and named substitute Members will have 
received and completed the necessary form giving details of their disclosable 
pecuniary interests.  
 
E. PUBLIC ISSUES  
 
The Board will conduct its business under the Procedure Rules contained in the 
Council’s Constitution. The Procedure Rules will allow members of the public, 
subject to certain conditions being met, to appear before the Board to:  
 
• Ask a question  
• Present a statement 
• Present a petition  
 
In the event of any requests being received from the public to ask a question or to 
present a statement or petition, the Board will be advised of the relevant procedures 
at the meeting.  
 
F. MEETINGS, AGENDA BRIEFING SESSIONS AND DEVELOPMENT SESSIONS 
  
The following arrangements are proposed in respect of these matters: 
 

 Meetings of the Board will be held on a minimum of 4 occasions each year. 
Special meetings of the Board can be arranged if required in consultation 
with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman.  

 Briefing meetings will be arranged as appropriate prior to publication of the 
Agenda and reports for Board Meetings 

 Development sessions will be arranged and agreed with the members of the 
Board.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26



 

 
BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE (BCP) HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The Board will:  
 
1. Act in accordance with its statutory duty promote integration and prevention 

approaches in improving the health and wellbeing of local residents. 
2.  Identify health and wellbeing needs and priorities and co-ordinate the 

development and updating of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessments – 
JSNAs – and the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment – PNA.  

3.  Agree, develop and implement the priorities and outcomes set out in the  
BCP Health and Wellbeing Strategy, working with existing partnerships where 
appropriate and periodically refreshing the Strategy in line with evidence in 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. The Health and Well-Being Board will 
ensure that it considers all relevant factors in relation to health and well-being 
including environmental factors, housing, health and other inequalities and 
ensure a focus on mental well-being in conjunction with good physical health.  

4.   Contribute to the governance of the Dorset Integrated Care System and work 
to ensure that the agreed plans of the Dorset Integrated Care System are 
developed and implemented with positive impact for all people who live, work 
and visit the BCP area. 

5.  Encourage integrated working between health and social care  
commissioners, including providing advice, assistance and other support to 
encourage commissioning, pooled budget and/or integrated provision in 
connection with the provision of health and social care services.  

6.  Encourage close working between commissioners of health -related services  
and the Board itself.  

7. Encourage close working between commissioners of health-related services 
and commissioners of health and social care services.  

8.  Discharge any other functions that may be delegated by BCP Council under 
Section 196(2) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012.  

9.  Have responsibility for improving health and wellbeing of children and 
maintain a formal relationship with the relevant Children’s Partnerships.  

10.  Be responsible for developing collaborative working to improve health and  
wellbeing across the conurbation and ensure there are appropriate links with 
the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Adults Safeguarding Board.  

11.  Work cooperatively with the Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board and, where 
appropriate, agree shared priorities and action.  

12.  Measure progress against the plans of the Dorset Integrated Care System 
and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, to ensure action is taken to improve 
outcomes when monitoring or performance indicators show that plans are not 
working.  

13.  Promote and ensure engagement and communication with relevant 
stakeholders, patients, people who live and work in the Boroughs including 
seldom heard groups, particularly in relation to service changes. 

14.  Deliver its public sector equalities duties as set out in the Equality Act 2010.  
15.  Produce an annual report outlining what the Board has achieved in respect of 

the improvement of health and wellbeing, and the reduction of health 
inequalities for the population of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  

27



This page is intentionally left blank

28



HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Report subject  Planning to Deliver the Health and Well-being Strategy 2020-
2023 

Meeting date  3/12/2020 

Status  Public  

Executive summary  The BCP Health and Well-Being Board approved the Health and 
Well-Being Strategy 2020-2023 in September 2020.  This report 
sets out the developing plans for delivery of the priorities as agreed 
in the Strategy. All Board members and agencies are asked to 
consider the initial plans and identify where the further input of all 
agencies and sectors and the engagement of local communities 
can contribute to the delivery of the strategy and its commitments.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

a) Board member agencies consider the initial plans for 
the delivery of the priorities  

b) Approve that in relation to “Promoting Healthy Lives” 
priority, the two themes of “improving mental health” 
and “eliminating food security” are delivered 
concurrently for the duration of the Strategy  

c) Request that the Forward Plan of the Health and Well-
Being Board is developed in the light of the plans and 
recommendations for progressing the Priorities of the 
Health and Well-Being Strategy.  

d) Board members are requested to consider whether they 
would wish to take on a sponsorship role for any 
specific elements of the Strategy in line with the 
decision of the Board on 3/9/2020.  

 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

The  delivery  the Priorities and aims of the Health and Well-Being 
Strategy 2020-2023 for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
require all partners of the Health and Well-Being Board and an 
extended range of partners across the public, business, community 
and voluntary  sectors and local communities to be engaged and 
work with commitment and pace.  Initial work has been undertaken 
on delivery plans in relation to the three Priorities in the plan.   

29

Agenda Item 8



Board members are asked to consider these plans and to identify 
how to strengthen the pace and impact of these plans.   

Given the impact on the Coronavirus pandemic on the issue of food 
insecurity, it is proposed that the two themes within the Promoting 
Health Lives priority are delivered concurrently.  

Cabinet Member  Cllr Nicola Greene – Cabinet member with responsibility for Public 
Health  

Corporate Director  Jan Thurgood – Adult Social Care, BCP Council  

Kate Ryan – Environment and Communities, BCP Council  

Elaine Redding – Children’s Services, BCP Council  

Sam Crowe - Director of Public Health, BCP Council  

Sally Sandcraft - Director of Primary and Community Care, Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group  

Report Authors Jan Thurgood – Corporate Director Adult Social Care, BCP Council  

Kate Ryan – Corporate Director Environment and Communities, 
BCP Council  

Elaine Redding – Corporate Director Children’s Services, BCP 
Council  

Sam Crowe - Director of Public Health, BCP Council  

Sally Sandcraft - Director of Primary and Community Care, Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group  

Kelly Ansell - Service Director Communities, BCP Council  

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  Decision  

Title:  

Background 

1. The BCP Council Health and Well-Being Board approved at its meeting on 3.9.2020, 
the Health and Well-Being Strategy 2020-2023 (See Appendix 1).  The Strategy is 
set in the context of BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy which sets a vision to “create 
vibrant communities with excellent quality of life, where everyone plays an active 
role”. The Health and Well-Being Strategy sets out four aims which are: 

- Increase life expectancy 

- Make sure all partners and communities work effectively together to improve 
health and well-being, especially for the most disadvantaged and make best use 
of our resources 

30



- Make sure that all children and young people have opportunities to have the best 
start in life 

- Make sure, in all the board does, we recognise and address the climate 
emergency.  

2. The Strategy focusses on three priorities in order to deliver these aims as follows: 

- Empowering communities  

- Promoting healthy lives  

- Support and challenge 

        This report sets out the work already being undertaken to deliver these three 
priorities and asks all partners to the Board to consider the plans and how they can 
be further developed to deliver the Board’s collective aims at pace and with positive 
impact.  

3.  At its meeting on 3.9.2020, the Board proposed that members of the Board might 
take on a sponsorship role for various elements of the Strategy and Board members 
are asked to consider if there are elements of the Strategy for which they would they 
would like to take on a sponsorship role.  

 

Priority One – Engaging with and empowering communities of highest need to 
improve healthy life expectancy 

4.  The Strategy sets out the following commitment for partners to work to: 

- Collectively agree priority communities, which will include Boscombe, 
Kinson/West Howe area and other areas to be considered as work develops 

- Develop an engagement plan with each community  

- Develop a partnership framework which secures the contribution of all relevant 
partners in each local area 

- Develop, with local communities, effective ways to understand the impact of our 
work using established measures 

5. The 2019 Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) identifies the Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA) of Boscombe West, Townsend, East Cliff & Springbourne, Kinson and 
Bourne as being 10% most deprived areas within the BCP Council area. Boscombe 
West and Kinson are noted as being entrenched within this level.  

6. Both Boscombe and Kinson (West Howe) have legacy Regeneration Partnership 
Boards involving a wide range of partners and working with the local community 
towards agreed outcomes which are set out in the Boscombe Commitment and 
Action Plan 2015-2020 and West Howe Commitment and Action Plan. Both of the 
Commitment documents require review to ensure they are using up to date 
evidence-based approaches to focus on the current issues within these areas. 

7. The Boscombe Regeneration Partnership Board is a long-standing partnership with 
statutory, private sector and community representatives coming together to deliver 
against the Boscombe Commitment. The partnership governance has been 
amended recently to accommodate the need for a Strategic Board to oversee the 
development of the Bournemouth Towns Fund, which is focused on regeneration 
opportunities in Boscombe. However, the long-standing community regeneration 

31



work in the area continues as these workstreams come together and are considered 
in meetings held quarterly. 

8. The West Howe Regeneration Partnership has also been in place for many years. 
Whilst the partnership includes similar partners to the Boscombe Regeneration 
Partnership, the nature of the area dictates a different set of partners working 
together, including local schools and social landlords. Due to demands as a result of 
the Covid 19 pandemic, the partnership has not formally met since late 2019 when a 
development session was conducted to consider the future delivery of the 
community regeneration work in the area. The partnership will now be revived, and 
quarterly meetings will commence from January 2021.  

9. In order to meet the objective of working with communities of highest need, it is 
proposed that the geographical focus of the Boscombe Regeneration Partnership 
Board is expanded to also include Boscombe East, East Cliff & Springbourne. The 
West Howe Partnership will also expand to encompass the immediately surrounding 
LSOA’s within the 10% deprivation level.  

10. A Strategic Area Assessment for Boscombe was produced in 2020 to help inform 
the development of the Towns Fund application for Boscombe. A similar Strategic 
Area Assessment will be undertaken by March 2021 for the Kinson/West Howe area 
to help inform the priorities for both Regeneration Partnership Boards. 

11. In both partnerships, we will work with our community partners including West Howe 
Community Enterprises, Boscombe Forum and Boscombe and Pokesdown 
Neighbourhood Plan Forum to develop a set of locally owned priorities for these 
areas which are overseen by the Regeneration Partnership Boards.  

12. The remaining areas within the 10% IMD category of Townsend and Bourne will also 
be a focus for community engagement and development, building on the 
foundations community partnership work in these areas and allocating dedicated 
resources to support the application of asset based community development 
techniques to maintain and strengthen long lasting trusted relationships with 
communities and local groups in order to develop projects with them and partners.  

13. There is an option to consider extending the approach of asset-based community 
development, to the 11-20% most deprived areas within BCP; Somerford, Poole 
Town and Hamworthy. However, additional resources would be required to support 
this approach. The proposal at this time is therefore to ensure that we continue to 
work with key partners such as the Community Action Network, Citizens Advice and 
community organisations, to support activity in these areas. We will also continue to 
provide support to the voluntary and community sector in securing funding and 
providing opportunities for income generation through the BH Coastal Lottery.  

14. This approach will allow us to meet the objectives of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy by reinvigorating priority areas in the most need. It is proposed that the 
approach will be reviewed annually.  

 

Priority Two – Promoting Healthy Lives – set priorities to accelerate work 
promoting healthy lives and well-being  

 

15. The Strategy sets out the Board’s intention to focus on annual themes for promoting 
healthy lives.  Due to the impact of COVID19, the commitment made was to focus 

32



for an initial fifteen months on improving mental health followed by a fifteen month 
period of focus on eliminating food poverty.  Given the impact of COVID19 on food 
poverty and the national and local priority being given to this issue, it now 
recommended that the two themes are delivered concurrently for the whole time 
period of the strategy. 

16. In relation to eliminating food insecurity and particularly food insecurity for children 
and their families, the following delivery plans have been developed; 

 In March, a BCP Access to Food Partnership was created bringing together 
a network of over 100 members from various statutory and community and 
voluntary sector partners as a Forum to share knowledge, best practice and 
to identify ways to improve on local community food support for vulnerable 
residents across Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  

 The forum has an agreed vision: “A Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 
where everyone is able to feed themselves and their family nutritious food, all 
of the time”. The partnership also works to a set of foundations:  We believe 
everyone has the right to:   

 Enough food for themselves and their family, all of the time.   

 Food that is nutritious and safe.  

 Food that is culturally acceptable, obtained and produced in ways that do not 
compromise people’s dignity, self-respect or human rights.   

 Live in a neighbourhood that provides and promotes good, affordable food 
choices   Have their experience heard in decision making that works towards 
food security 

 
Delivery will be achieved through:  
 

 Creating joined up pathways of food support for individuals in crisis  

 Working in action groups that gather partners around specific areas of 
development, e.g. engaging schools, distributing local grown veg  

 Meeting to share best practice, ideas, needs and opportunities as the Access 
to Food Forum  

 Listening to those with lived experience of food insecurity and designing 
better support together  

 Maintaining and developing the Access to Food Map and other methods of 
signposting and sharing partnership information  

 Reporting to the BCP Health and Wellbeing Board to celebrate local initiatives 
and share innovations   

 

17. In relation to the theme of improving mental health, the COVID-19 pandemic is 
having a profound impact on the health and wellbeing of our communities in general 
and on mental wellbeing in particular. The stress and strain of everyday life is 
increased by aspects of the pandemic: for some there are increased anxieties 
arising from the risk of catching the virus, for others isolating at home increases 
loneliness, for many money worries and loss of income are factors as jobs are 
impacted by the pandemic. To support people at this time to maintain mental 
wellbeing and bolster their resilience initiatives are available or are being developed 
in the following key areas: 

33



 Supporting our communities – in general and with children and young 
people in focus 

 Supporting our staff wellbeing 

 Working to prevent suicides. 

Supporting our Communities  

Wellbeing communications will focus over the coming months on raising awareness of 

where our residents can get help. Based on the overarching Dorset wide communication 

strategy for mental wellbeing and suicide prevention, there will be a focus on the following 

key areas:   

 support for people experiencing financial difficulties  

 young people and parents (have the conversations and developing listening 

skills)  

 people who are socially isolated (“you're not on your own”)  

 bereavement support offer  

 women who experience domestic abuse. 
 

Our residents being asked to self-isolate as result of COVID- 19 are now receiving welfare 

calls from BCP Council to ensure they are able to isolate safely with access to food, 

prescriptions and help to apply for the central government financial support offer.  

The LiveWell Dorset coaching offer continues for BCP residents with online support and 

resources to help and encourage people to make lifestyle changes. In addition, the building 

resilience training being rolled out for staff and the third sector will help equip people with the 

skills and knowledge to help local communities.  

Dorset Mental Health Forum have been working with partners to develop a coordinated 

approach to bereavement support as the 'one open door’ offer. This ensures BCP residents 

can receive the support they need, whether it be urgent support, peer support, counselling 

or emotional support or signposting to advice and guidance about finance, relationships, 

housing or employment. Key groups for targeted outreach work include care homes, BAME 

staff, young people, those vulnerable to COVID and funeral homes.   

Supporting our communities - working with children and young people  

Through the Health Visiting Service VIG (Video Interaction Guidance) training and 

programmes (including peer support groups) are being rolled out to support parents with 

mild to moderate anxiety or depression to enhance effective parent - child relationships.  

Mental wellbeing support for school aged Children and Young People is being strengthened 

through: 

 Introducing a 3.5 year and School Entry Health Assessment using the Ages and 
Stages Questionnaire (ASQ) to improve earlier identification and support for children 
with Social, Emotional and Mental health needs.  

34

https://www.livewelldorset.co.uk/covid-19-information/


 Building sustainable mental health skills, capacity and quality resources within the 
schools’ workforce through the Wellbeing Return for Education project. 

 

SOS - supporting our staff - wellbeing 

Partners across the health and care system across BCP and Dorset have been working 

together to develop a coordinated mental wellbeing offer to support colleagues as they face 

unprecedented challenges in response to COVID-19.  

Health and care support staff across have access to a  library of online mental health 

resources which signposts to information and advice about looking after your mental health 

during the coronavirus outbreak. Currently work is underway to develop an enhanced 
wellbeing offer to improve access to psychological support for individuals and teams with the 

main focus on the health and social care sector.    

There has also been extensive staff training and skills development in Mental Health First 

Aid, Psychological First Aid and 'Caring for Carers ' packages in a number of the larger 

organisations across the area. This will equip staff champions to be able to listen to and 

signpost colleagues struggling with their mental health.   

LiveWell Dorset is now offering a refreshed Five Ways to Wellbeing course delivered 

through Zoom, to help people look after their wellbeing at this time. This is open to 

individuals as well as team sessions. LiveWell Dorset is also offering Managing Stress and 

Building Resilience online team training sessions.  

Working to prevent suicides  

Many staff across partner organisations work to prevent suicide and self-harm daily, from 

safeguarding children and young people, to helping those who feel isolated to connect with 

others in their community. Preventing suicide and self-harm is complex, requiring 

collaboration across partner organisations and work is underway to develop the 2021-23 

multi-agency suicide prevention strategy and implementation plan.  

 

There are six workstreams in the strategy all with separate functions but with overlapping 

aims and all responsive to the information being provided through real time surveillance.  

The six workstreams are: 

i. Develop and use real time surveillance (RTS) data about deaths by suicide and 

attempted suicides to inform the strategy and local responses.  The RTS information 

will help shape strategy, influence practice and create the responsive iterative plan 

that is flexible enough to respond to changing trends and local need.   

a. The Suicide Interruption Group development will seek to address the needs 

of people who frequently attempt suicide.  The aim of this group is to prevent 

people moving from the attempt data to the completed suicide list. 

ii. Support the development of a group of people who have lived experience related to 

the impact of suicide or attempted suicide.  The group will have support to develop 

35

https://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/coronavirus-1/mental-healthwellbeing-advice
https://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/coronavirus-1/mental-healthwellbeing-advice
https://www.eventbrite.co.uk/e/livewell-dorsets-5-ways-to-wellbeing-tickets-103207000918


their skills in relation to using their lived experience to help others. The group will 

advise, recommend and support any developments linked to the prevention strategy. 

iii. Development of a bereavement offer for people who have experienced the loss of 

someone through suicide (also included complicated loss linked to Covid) 

iv. Develop a rolling programme of suicide prevention training aimed wherever needed 

as information comes in through the RTS 

v. Develop local media campaign aimed at suicide prevention in Dorset in both rural 

and conurbation areas. 

 

The Open Door service is up and running for people who experience complex grief related to 

suicide or to bereavement due to Covid.  It has funding and includes partners such as 

Dorset MH Forum and Cruse and Dorset Mind. 

Online suicide prevention training has been made available to staff in partner organisations. 

Some staff groups have been invited to take part, and where possible staff can access this 

through their organisation’s e-training portal. 

 

Priority Three – Support and Challenge – provide governance and support to our 
partners, prioritising the delivery of key partnership outcomes 

 

18. The Strategy identifies four areas for support and challenge to improve outcomes 
through partnership working and each will require the Health and Well-Being Board 
to agree how it will undertake a relevant and effective governance role. 

 

i) Improve outcomes for children, young people and young adults who 
have special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) 

All partners have committed to working at pace to improve outcomes for 
children, young people and young adults who have special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND) and to ensuring that parents and carers and 
young people are fully engaged in meaningful co-production at all stages in 
the improvement programme.  

The Health and Well-Being Board has provided governance to the 
improvement programme and has during 2019/20 considered reports each 
quarter on the development and delivery of the improvement programme, 
including agreeing the scope for a Local Government Peer Review 
undertaken in January 2020 and considering the findings and 
recommendations of the review.  

In Summer 2020, a formal Improvement Board, which is chaired 
independently, was established to oversee the improvement programme.  
This Board is taking the lead role in governing the improvement process and 
ensuring meaningful co-production with young people, parents and carers.  

36



As the Improvement Board is now in place, the Health and Well-Being Board 
is requested to consider if Board members would wish to receive update 
reports on progress on the SEND improvement programme and if so, at what 
frequency.  

 

ii) Ensure that safeguarding arrangements for children and vulnerable 
adults are effective 

During 2020, work has continued to ensure that safeguarding arrangements 
for children and adults are effective. Review work has been undertaken to 
consider how to take forward the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership 
arrangements across the BCP and Dorset Council areas led by the 
independent chair of the partnership.  The Safeguarding Adults Board has 
been implementing the recommendations of an independent review of the 
effectiveness of the BCP and Dorset Safeguarding Adults Boards conducted 
in 2019. This has been alongside the proactive development of the BCP 
Community Safety Partnership which is taking a cross-cutting lead in 2 key 
areas related to the safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults, which 
are Domestic Abuse and Exploitation.   

It is recommended that the Health and Well-Being Board considers in Spring 
2021 a comprehensive report on the partnership arrangements for 
safeguarding children’s, vulnerable adults and community safety and as part 
of this report, confirms the Health and Well-Being Board relationships with 
other key partnerships including the safeguarding and community safety 
partnerships.  

 

iii) Ensure that the significant structural changes in local NHS services 
deliver improved outcomes for local communities  

The Dorset Integrated Care System is implementing over the coming 5 to 7 
years an extensive range of very significant and strategic changes in the way 
in which services are delivered for residents across the BCP Council and 
Dorset Council areas.   

University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust is implementing a 
programme which will see the transformation of all three hospital sites at 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole over the next few years as part of a 
£250 million investment in local health services.   

As a whole system, the Dorset Integrated Care System is implementing a 
programme to enhance significantly community and primary care services 
and their integration with social care and voluntary and community services. 
The programme is designed to improve health outcomes, reduce health 
inequalities and enable residents to access comprehensive and integrated 
services in the local communities and as relevant in their own homes.  A core 
component of the development of enhanced services is the development of 
the nine Primary Care networks across the BCP Council area.   

The Dorset ICS system also has a long-term commitment to ensure that 
people’s physical and mental health needs are considered as a whole and 
improving mental outcomes is a core part of the transformation ambitions.  

37



The Health and Well-Being Board as a partnership can add value by 
ensuring that all partners and sectors work together to support the delivery of 
the intended benefits of improved outcomes for local residents and 
communities  and by evaluating the long-term impacts on health and well-
being of the transformation programme.  

It is proposed that the Health and Well-Being Board holds specific 
development sessions in 2021 which are focussed on the transformation in 
hospital, primary and community services. As an outcome, Board members 
will consider how all partners can contribute further to the delivery of the 
intended benefits and how the Health and Well-Being Board can ensure the 
impact of the transformation in Dorset ICS services on the health and well-
being of local communities is evaluated over time.  

 

iv) Improve outcomes for local people through close integration between 
health and social care services  

The Health and Well-Being Board has since its inception in April 2019 
approved and provided oversight to the outcomes of the Better Care Fund 
plans for the BCP Council area.  These plans have set out how the Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group and BCP Council are pooling resources in 
order to improve the integration of NHS and adult social care services and to 
achieve improvements in outcomes for local people.  These plans have 
focussed particularly on ensuring that people with complex needs and long-
term conditions are supported to live independent lives in their own homes 
and communities. There has been focus on reducing avoidable hospital 
admissions and ensuring that local people are discharged in a timely and 
safe way from hospital.  

The Coronavirus pandemic has seen the introduction of radical changes to 
the way in which NHS partners and Councils through their Adult Social Care 
functions work together to enable safe and timely hospital discharge.  Dorset 
ICS partners have developed at pace a “Home First” programme which has 
radically changed the process for hospital discharge with the aim of ensuring 
that everyone can leave hospital as soon they are medically fit to do so; 
return to their own home whenever this is possible; receive therapeutic and 
reablement support in their own home and have their long term care needs 
assessed outside a hospital environment.  The Home First model has led to 
the shaping of services and changes in the Better Care Fund metrics and 
reporting.  It is the intention of all partners to use the learning of the 
pandemic period to develop a long-term Home First model which will also 
focus on the prevention of hospital admissions.  

The pandemic period has also seen the development of  comprehensive 
integrated support to all care homes and their residents with Councils and 
the NHS working very closely with the care home providers to enhance the 
care available to care home residents and the multi-disciplinary support 
available to Registered Managers and their staff teams. 

It is proposed that the Health and Well-Being Board in its future governance 
in this area not only approves and monitors the implementation of the Better 
Care Fund plans but ensures that  improved integrated working achieved 

38



during the pandemic period is embedded in system’s working in the longer 
term.  

Summary of financial implications 

19. The delivery of the outcomes of the Health and Well-Being Strategy will require the 
commitment of resources of all partners of the Health and Well-Being Board and all 
sectors of our communities including the business, faith, voluntary and community 
sectors.  Some areas of the plan (such as the SEND agenda and Better Care Fund) 
require partner agencies to implement integrated commissioning and service 
delivery plans and to formally pool resources. Partners will also work together to 
identify opportunities to bid for external (including Government funding) to support 
the delivery of the plans.  

Summary of legal implications 

20. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 sets out the requirements of Health and Well-
Being Boards to agree and implement a Joint Health and Well-Being Strategy to 
improve the health and well-being of the local community and reduce inequalities for 
all residents. The BCP Health and Well-Being Board approved the “Health and Well-
Being Strategy 2020-2023 Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council” in 
September 2020.  The report sets out the initial proposals for the delivery the 
outcomes and priorities of the strategy.  

Summary of human resources implications 

21. The delivery of the aims, priorities and outcomes of the Health and Well-Being 
Strategy will be through the collective work of staff, volunteers and leaders across all 
partners to the Health and Well-Being Board,  all sectors of our community 
(including the business community) and through the active participation of local 
residents.  The Health and Well-Being Board will implement an approach where we 
work to engage all relevant partners, communities and residents in the delivery of 
the strategy.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

22. The Health and Well-Being Board has committed to an aim in the Strategy that the 
Board will “Make sure in all the board does, we recognise the climate emergency”. 
As the Board and its partners deliver its strategy, it will ensure that issues relevant to 
the climate emergency are identified and addressed.  

Summary of public health implications 

23. The strategy has been developed to deliver improved health and wellbeing for 
residents of BCP Council in general and, in particular, to residents of communities of 
highest need.  The strategy aims to: 

 - Increase healthy life expectancy 

 -  Make sure all partners and communities work effectively together to improve 
health and wellbeing, especially for those most disadvantaged and make best use of 
resources  

 - Make sure all children and young people have opportunities to have the best start 
in life.  

39



Summary of equality implications 

24. At the heart of the strategy is a commitment to address inequalities in outcomes 
across our communities and in particular to ensure that all children have 
opportunities to have the best start in life.  In order to deliver the aim of “improving 
healthy life expectancy”, issues of inequality in outcomes for many residents will 
need to be addressed. The Health and Well-Being Board will ensure that it considers 
the equalities impacts in all delivery plans and papers considered by the Board.  

Summary of risk assessment 

25. The Health and Well-Being Strategy sets out ambitious plans for improving health 
and well-being for all residents and in addressing inequalities in health outcomes.  
The major current risk in the delivery of the plan, aims and outcomes of the Strategy 
is the priority and attention which all partners have to give to addressing the impact 
of the COVID19 pandemic and the impact of the pandemic on the health and well-
being of all local people and its particular impact in exacerbating inequalities across 
our communities. 

26. In recognition of the impact of COVID19 on the issue of food poverty, the Health and 
Well-Being Board is recommended to agree that the two themes identified under the 
“Promoting Health Lives” priority of the strategy are delivered concurrently.  

Background papers 

Appendices   

Appendix 1: Health and Well-Being Strategy 2020-2023 Bournemouth, Christchurch and 

Poole Council   

40



Heal th  and  we l lbe ing
st ra tegy  2020-2023
Bournemou th ,  
Chr i s t chu rch  and  Poo le  Counc i l

September 
2020

41



Health and Wellbeing Boards present

an opportunity to join up local

services, create new partnerships for

prevention and deliver greater

democratic accountability. The

purpose of the board is to improve

health and wellbeing and reduce

health inequalities.

 

BCP Council’s corporate strategy set

a vision to create vibrant

communities with excellent quality of

life, where everyone plays an active

role. The priorities in this Health and

Wellbeing Board strategy help deliver

that ambition, by supporting the

priorities within Fulfilled Lives and

Brighter Futures (promoting active,

happy and healthy lifestyles, and

improving outcomes for our children).

The work on inequalities supports

Connected Communities and

Dynamic Places, as we aim to build a

sustainable, vibrant and inclusive

economy that works for all.   

 

Increase healthy life expectancy,

currently 63 years (actual life

expectancy is 80 years for men and

83 years for women)

Make sure all partners and

communities work effectively

together to improve health and

wellbeing, especially for those most

disadvantaged and make best use

of our resources

Make sure that all children and

young people have opportunities to

have the best start in life 

Make sure, in all the board does,

we recognise and address the

climate emergency.

The board is made up of council

officers and elected members, NHS

officers, local GPs from the Dorset

Clinical Commissioning Group and

representatives from the police, fire

and rescue service and voluntary

sector.

The Health and Wellbeing Board for

Bournemouth, Christchurch and

Poole uses development sessions

and formal business meetings to

drive work forward and meet the

following aims:

Role of
the board

42



When the Health and Wellbeing

Board met in 2019 and early 2020,

we discussed its critical role in

delivering the council’s corporate

strategy, and how we will engage

partners to help us to deliver the

corporate vision and objectives for

the benefit of our communities.

Since March, the pandemic has

caused disruption to life locally,

nationally and globally and has

affected our lives like nothing

before. It has also had an impact on

some of the themes we intend to

focus on as a board.

BCP Council has a local outbreak

management plan which sets out

how local agencies will identify,

respond to and contain any local

outbreaks. Alongside its usual role,

the board has an important part to

play in overseeing this plan. 

Empowering communities

Promoting healthy lives

Support and challenge

Improving mental health

Eliminating food insecurity

The health and wellbeing strategy

focuses on three priorities:

As part of our priority to promote

healthy lives, there are two key themes

we will focus on for 15 months at a time:

Due to the impact of the COVID-19

pandemic, these themes have changed

from the ones we originally intended to

focus on to ensure they reflect the

needs of our communities. The time

allocated to these themes has also been

extended from a year to 15 months to

allow sufficient time to make an impact.

The current
context

Cllr Vikki Slade, Leader of
BCP Council and chair of the
Health and Wellbeing Board

"It's vital our communities have

confidence we will protect them in the

event of a rise in cases of COVID-19.

So along with our existing priorities,

the health and wellbeing board will

also play a key role in overseeing the

local outbreak management plan.”

43



Empowering
communities

Collectively agree priority

communities which will include

Boscombe, Kinson/West Howe area,

and other areas to be considered as

the work develops

Develop an engagement plan with

each community 

Develop a partnership framework

which secures the contribution of all

relevant partners in each local area

Develop, with local communities,

effective ways to understand the

impact of our work using established

measures

Priority one - engaging with and
empowering communities of highest
need to improve healthy life
expectancy

We will work with partners to:

Overall life expectancy at birth in
Bournemouth, Christchurch and
Poole is higher than the England
average. There is local variation, of
8.6 years for men and 6.6 years for
women between the most and
least deprived areas. 
 
Healthy life expectancy, based on
how long people are expected to live
in self-reported good health, is the
same for men and higher for
women than the England average.
Overall, the time between healthy
life expectancy and overall life
expectancy is 15.7 years for men and
16.9 years for women.
 
17.1% of children live in low income
households. This ranges from 4% in
Broadstone to 33% in Kinson South. 
 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and
Poole has 48,000 emergency hospital
admissions each year. Rates
(adjusted for age) double between
Broadstone and Boscombe West.

Volunteers, Parks in Mind
project, Boscombe

44



Promoting
healthy lives

Agree two themes - for the first 15

months this will be improving mental

health, followed by eliminating food

insecurity

Learn from best practice

Develop a programme of

engagement to gain commitment to

actions 

Evaluate impacts over time

Priority two - set priorities to
accelerate work promoting healthy
lives and wellbeing

The board's intention was to set

annual themes for promoting healthy

lives. Due to COVID-19 this has been

adapted to two 15-month themes to

reflect the issues faced by our

communities and to ensure more time

to embed plans and make an impact.

We will:

Figures from the Office for National
Statistics suggest twice as many
adults are experiencing symptoms of
depression compared to the same
time in 2019 and the NHS
Confederation has said that doctors
are seeing a rise in people reporting
severe mental health difficulties.
 
Factors such as social isolation,
financial worries, concerns about
health of loved ones and ongoing
uncertainty can contribute to feelings
of anxiety, stress, low mood and
depression. 
 
We will be promoting a new local
mental health campaign to
ensure people are aware of the
support they can access.
 
We will also focus on promoting
physical activity, which is proven to
have a positive impact on mental
health.

Park Yoga, Upton Country Park

45



Support and
challenge

Improve outcomes for children,

young people and young adults who

have special educational needs and

disabilities (SEND)

Ensure that safeguarding

arrangements for children and

vulnerable adults are effective

Ensure that the significant structural

changes in local NHS services

deliver improved outcomes for local

communities

Improve outcomes for local people

through closer integration between

health and social care services 

Priority three - provide governance
and support to our partners,
prioritising the delivery of key
partnership outcomes

We will work with partners to:

SEND
Trends in the rate of SEND support in
Bournemouth and Poole* dropped
from a peak in 2010 of 17.8% in
Bournemouth and 18.6% in Poole, to
11.5% and 13.7% in January 2019,
respectively. These are similar to
national trends, although levels of
SEND Support in Poole remain higher.

Local NHS changes
Changes to improve local NHS
services include plans for Poole
Hospital to become the major
planned care hospital for east Dorset
and Royal Bournemouth Hospital the
major emergency care hospital.

Integration of health and care
The Better Care Fund seeks to join-up
health and care services, so that
people can manage their own health
and wellbeing, and live
independently in their communities
for as long as possible.

*Christchurch data is limited and therefore not included

Whole school approach project,
Mudeford Junior School
Christchurch

46



Measuring
impacts

Improving health and wellbeing in
communities of highest need
The impacts of partnership working
on our key themes
Progress in increasing healthy life
expectancy

Measuring impacts is an important
element of the work of the board and
its partners. The board will work with
partner agencies to understand and
agree which indicators can be used to
track progress in our work.

The board will consider how to
measure each element of the plan
most effectively to demonstrate the
impact to local people.

This will include: 

Expected outcomes

People living in our priority

communities will have more

opportunities to access support to

improve their health and wellbeing,

and lead healthier lives.

We will support more people to look

after their mental health, preventing

the build up of serious mental health

problems. 

For those who need further mental

health support, we will support more

people to access the services they

need. 

We will also promote the importance

of healthy lifestyles to improve

mental health as well as reducing

risk of serious illnesses such as

cancer, heart disease and now

COVID-19.

Volunteering gardening project,
Poole

47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



BCP COUNCIL HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD FORWARD PLAN  

Recommendation: 

That the Health and Wellbeing Board consider the development of the Forward Plan taking account of the 
delivery of the Health and Well-being Strategy 2020-2023 and the proposed schedule of dates for future meetings 
of the Board  
 

 

Item Title  Reason for item  Desired Outcome 

 

Lead Officer(s) Why has it come to the 

Board? 

Development Session: 21 January 2021  

It is proposed that the above date is used for a development session on the BCP Local Plan/Development Strategy and the 

Housing Strategy. 

Board Meeting: 18 March 2021 

Local Outbreak 

Management Plan  

To provide an update to 

the Board on the current 

position in light of its role 

as the public engagement 

Board.  

To enable appropriate 

communication and 

engagement.  

Sam Crowe  To ensure that the Board is able 

fulfil its role in accordance with 

the Plan. 

 

 

 

49

A
genda Item

 10



Item Title  Reason for item  Desired Outcome 

 

Lead Officer(s) Why has it come to the 

Board? 

Meeting dates for future meetings of the Board are detailed below: 

17 June 2021 

14 October 2021 

20 January 2022 

24 March 2022 

 

 

50


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	BCP HWB Presentation, 03/09/2020 Health and Wellbeing Board

	7 Health and Wellbeing Board - Business protocol, membership and terms of reference
	8 Planning to Deliver the Health and Well-being Strategy 2020-2023
	Enc. 1 for Planning to Deliver the Health and Well-being Strategy 2020-2023

	10 Forward Plan, Dates for future meetings of the Board and arrangements for Development Sessions

